RETURN AND RECOVERY FROM MASS EVACUATIONS:

IMPROVING ACCESSIBILITY FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

Kevin Quigley Kaitlynne Lowe

May 2023

MacEachen Institute for Public Policy and Governance

Table of Contents		
Executive Summary		
1. Introduction		
2. Context for our study		
2.1. Evacuations in Canada between 1990 and 2020		
2.2. Emergency management responsibilities are dispersed across municipal, provincial, and federal government with support from the private and non-profit sectors		
3. Literature Review: Safe restoration of utilities and addressing damage, funds from insurance and disaster financial relief, and access to psychosocial supports are important features of evacuation return and recovery		
3.1. Managing safe return to communities following an evacuation is a significant challenge, safe utility restoration is often the immediate focus; demographic considerations are also important		
3.2. Insurance and disaster relief programs have a role in disaster recovery; residents need complete knowledge of their coverage and claim systems should be user-friendly and efficient		
33.2.1. Role of insurance in disaster recovery16		
3.2.2. Role of disaster relief funding programs in recovery17		
3.3. Psychosocial supports in disaster recovery, disasters can accentuate impacts on mental health, particularly post-traumatic stress		
4. Our Approach and Methods		
5. Results		
5.1. People with disabilities survey findings21		
5.2. Emergency management survey findings23		
5.3. Roundtable findings25		
6. Discussion		
7. Areas for further research		
8. References		

Executive Summary

This is what we want to answer / objectives of the research

Evacuations are highly complex undertakings that involve a variety of orders of government, sectors, and organizations. The people responsible for mass evacuations are confronted with significant challenges: they must coordinate limited resources in a dynamic context, often in degraded conditions, and their decisions are consequential, time-constrained, and sometimes irreversible. These events are happening more often and at a growing and significant human, financial, and environmental cost.

There are four key stages to evacuation: communication and alert, transportation, shelter, and return to community. This paper focuses on return and recovery and is part of a larger project looking to improve evacuation of people with disabilities, including considerations for all four stages. To learn more about the other stages of evacuation, please see the <u>MacEachen</u> <u>Institute website</u>.

The purpose of the paper is to understand how we can improve return to community and recovery following a disaster with specific considerations for people with disabilities. Unless otherwise stated, we refer to "recovery" as the restoration of livelihoods and health, including economic, physical, social, cultural, and environmental assets, systems, and activities (Kushma 2022, XX). All aspects of society are designed for the able-bodied and privileged. The structural and social barriers throughout infrastructure and society impose additional barriers for people with disability. Efforts should be made to avoid paternalistic approaches and focus on empowerment. It is also important to recognize that meeting diverse functional needs is key, as the disability community encompasses a wide range of abilities, functional needs, priorities, and concerns.

Advancements in accessibility and rights for people with disabilities have led to increased concern at all orders of government about improving accessibility of public services, including emergency management services. How can we ensure that people with disabilities are supported during return and recovery from an evacuation? What are the key accessibility considerations for return and recovery post-evacuation? And more specifically, what impacts would people with disabilities and caregivers experience during return and recovery following an evacuation?

Funding for this research

This research was funded by the Canada Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council and Accessibility Standards Canada.

Our Approach and Methods

Our specific objectives were 1) partnering leading risk scholars with those responsible for mass evacuation and organizations that represent the concerns of persons with disabilities to develop a shared understanding of evacuation risks, (2) examining what guides the thinking and actions of those responsible for evacuation, considering the knowledge we have of certain risks and the

contextual pressures exerted on the regime, and (3) improving dialogue among researchers, practitioners, and people with disabilities on the subject of evacuation.

We surveyed 29 people with disabilities and some caregivers and eight emergency managers to understand key considerations from different perspectives. The surveys were distributed by email and hosted on Opinio between October and December 2021. A roundtable on the topic of return and recovery in emergency evacuation was conducted on April 17, 2023, with 15 members of the Advisory Board and invited stakeholders. We reviewed academic literature and other publicly available material, such as reports, media articles, and policies. We used a cybernetic understanding of control, which examines a system's ability to gather information, set standards, and change behaviour. We collected and analyzed data in our survey and roundtable according to these three themes.

What we found:

Findings in literature:

- Evacuations are not common in Canada but have increased in frequency and severity over the past ten years. Over 670,000 people have been evacuated in Canada during 273 evacuations between 1990 and 2020. The most common events resulting in evacuation are floods and wildfires.
- Managing safe return to communities following an evacuation is a significant challenge. In many ways, the decision to announce the return to a community is comparable to a decision to mandate an evacuation (Stallings 1991, 183). There are similar concerns for public safety and individual risk perceptions that are important to consider. The Government of British Columbia enlists the help of volunteer engineers to support this work.
- People with disabilities and caregivers have unique requirements to ensure their residences are safe and accessible for their return, including access to assistive devices and equipment, access to utilities and telecommunications, considerations for service animals.
- Insurance and disaster relief programs have a role in disaster recovery, but processes and policies need to be clear and user-friendly. Residents need complete knowledge of their coverage and claim systems should be easy to use and efficient, with payments made quickly.
- Disasters can have significant impacts on mental health, particularly post-traumatic stress, and cause long-term health and economic impacts. Access to trauma-informed psychosocial supports can support disaster recovery over the long term.
- The most resilient communities are often the most connected. Strong interconnectedness between members of a community often means the community can be more resilient to disasters. Social capital of individual members of a community and the community overall are also important factors for resiliency.

Findings from the surveys:

- Top concerns with return to community relate to addressing damage and debris, alongside restoration of utilities and access to necessities (e.g., safe food and water). Respondents with disabilities and caregivers noted that repair work is a concern as well as considerations for managing repairs while also providing caregiving support.
- Lack of public experience with evacuation: 90% of survey respondents (people with disabilities and caregivers) have not experienced an evacuation, which poses significant challenges for emergency managers. People's plans likely have significant gaps. Regardless of advance preparation, people may experience emotional and psychological stress that will further complicate an evacuation.
- Respondents identified their reliance on insurance to recover and replace lost or damaged property. Some people with disabilities noted they felt comfortable with their insurance coverage and felt fortunate to have financial resources to help recover from an emergency. It was also raised that people have varying degrees of insurance coverage and may not be able to pay out-of-pocket expenses (e.g., insurance deductibles). There are also issues about people not knowing what coverage they have.
- Emergency manager respondents identified that emergency personnel need to have knowledge of requirements to ensure a residence is accessible and operational (e.g., access to utilities, free of hazards, access to supplies and supports such as food, transportation, mental health services, and support workers). There are also considerations for medical equipment and assistive devices that impact safe return to community for people with disabilities, as well as service animals and their needs.

This is what we recommend

- Emergency managers need to be more aware of the specific needs of residents to ensure a residence is safe, accessible, and operational. There are unique needs to consider, such as access to supplies and supports such as food, transportation, medical treatment, mental health services, support workers, and service animals.
- Opportunities for people with disabilities, caregivers, and emergency managers to engage directly with emergency planning are vital. The disability community is not homogenous. There are many different functional needs and experiences throughout the disability communities that should be accounted for in emergency responses. For example, emergency responses should consider diverse physical, sensory, and cognitive needs as well as the varieties of experiences in the disability community, even between people with seemingly similar disabilities; this is a complex and particularly challenging feature of emergency response.
- Participants recommended greater support and awareness for caregivers; the return process should enable caregivers to complete their own return and recovery tasks (e.g., repair work, insurance processes, clearing damage or debris) as well as have access to the

people for whom they are caring;

- Preparation for and knowledge about insurance and disaster-relief funding processes would be beneficial, as many people may not be aware of the specifics of their coverage or how it varies according to the disaster. Support to navigate insurance and relief funding processes following an emergency was also recommended;
- Better understanding of who the key stakeholders are (e.g., emergency organizations, first responders, volunteers, service providers) and their responsibilities. Ensure roles and responsibilities for return and recovery tasks following an emergency evacuation are well known and communicated in advance of an emergency, including:
 - Members of the public, specifically people with disabilities, knowing what they are responsible for, how to connect with necessary services, and what their expectations for support should be;
 - Staff and volunteers for various organizations and orders of government involved in evacuation;
 - Understanding how demographic changes and government policies are changing the context. For example, more people with disabilities and seniors are living at home; rates of disability increase as the population ages;
- Since many people have not experienced an evacuation, strategies to prepare for many first-time evacuees will be important for return and recovery.
- Robust governance arrangements that are agile, adaptable, and take these complex issues into account; are rehearsed in advance; have appropriate governance mechanisms in place to connect with the right people at the right time.
- Training should be developed for emergency responders and other professionals (e.g., insurance) and volunteers involved in return and recovery processes with the goal to improve accessibility. Such training programs should be led by disability organizations with the necessary resources and supports in place. Specific training can also be developed to support return and recovery processes, such as determining if a residence is safe and accessible to return,

1. Introduction

The people responsible for mass evacuations are confronted with significant challenges: they must coordinate limited resources in a dynamic context, often in degraded conditions, and their decisions are consequential, time-constrained, and sometimes irreversible. These events are happening more often and at a growing and significant human, financial, and environmental cost. Disasters have caused hundreds of billions of dollars of damage and killed hundreds of thousands of people over the past five years, and these costs are rising (Klomp & Valckx 2014; Roy et al. 2020; Sadri et al. 2021). The top ten climate disasters in 2021 alone cost over \$170 billion (Kramer & Ware 2021, 5).

There are four key stages to evacuation: communication and alert, transportation, shelter, and return to community and recovery. This paper focuses on return to community and recovery and is part of a larger project looking to improve evacuation of people with disabilities, including considerations for all four stages. Disaster recovery encompasses physical, economic, social, cultural, and environmental systems (Kushma 2022, xx). We identified and explored key accessibility considerations for return and recovery post-evacuation. More specifically, we asked what impacts would people with disabilities and caregivers experience during return and recovery following an evacuation, and how can these experiences be improved?

Many issues impact the general public for return and recovery, including people with disabilities and caregivers, such as restoration of utilities, insurance coverage and access to disaster relief finding, and psychosocial supports. People with disabilities also have unique considerations in these areas, such as specific needs regarding assistive equipment, infrastructure at home, access to insurance and financial programs to replace equipment and supplies, and the types of psychosocial supports needed. For example, our survey respondents noted a need for services to support caregivers who are enabling those with disabilities to complete recovery tasks.

The academic literature emphasized that there are similar concerns for public safety when mandating an evacuation and a decision to permit return to communities. Insurance and disaster relief programs were noted for their role in disaster recovery, but processes and policies need to be clear and user-friendly. Many people with insurance may not know the specifics of their coverage and any variances between causes of damage (e.g., fire, flood, and wind). Access to trauma-informed psychosocial supports can support disaster recovery over the long term, as disasters can accentuate existing mental illnesses and cause new cases of mental illness, which can have long-term impacts on health and economies.

We surveyed 29 people with disabilities and caregivers and eight emergency managers to understand key considerations from both perspectives. To understand our ability to control an emergency response, we can apply elements of cybernetic control to analyze how a system gathers information, sets standards, and changes behaviour, such as an emergency services system (Quigley et al. 2017).

There is a gap in emergency management research regarding evacuation return in Canada, as well as specific considerations for people with disabilities. More work needs to be done in this area to ensure people with disabilities have the knowledge and resources to safely return and recover following a disaster, not only to improve resiliency but also to uphold legal obligations for accessible public services.

2. Context for our study

Canada has experienced an increase in severe weather events in recent years and the impacts are becoming more devastating. Costs of recovering from disasters are rising across all orders of government, sectors, and to all Canadians. There are significant physical, social, and economic impacts to consider, especially because these severe weather events are likely to worsen as climate change advances (Office of the Auditor General of Canada 2016). According to Catastrophe Indices and Quantification Inc., insured damages from severe weather events in Canada have increased to nearly \$2 billion in recent years (Baum and Ha 2023). Estimates from Public Safety Canada suggest that every dollar invested in disaster mitigation can save \$3 to \$6 in recovery costs (Office of the Auditor General of Canada 2016; Public Safety Canada 2022).

People with disabilities often face challenges in preparing for and recovering from disasters due to poverty, discrimination, and limited access to information. Despite these disproportionate impacts, people with disabilities can be overlooked in emergency responses (Dai and Hu 2022). Nearly 22% of the Canadian population identifies as having a disability (Statistics Canada 2018) and this number will only grow as the population ages and definitions of "disability" continue to evolve.

Advancements in accessibility and rights for people with disabilities have increased concern at all orders of government about improving emergency services for people with disabilities. More policies and infrastructure to support people with disabilities to live in their own residences and aging-in-place mean that people with disabilities are dispersed throughout communities (National Housing Strategy 2020 & Enabling Access 2021). Often the main focus of emergency managers is to increase public emergency awareness, but how can emergency processes be better informed by the perceptions and needs of the public, especially people with disabilities?

This concern has been growing nationally and internationally since the introduction of the United Nations Convention on the Rights for Persons with Disabilities (UNCRPD). Many jurisdictions have agreed that the access and functional needs of persons with disabilities should be integrated within each stage of an emergency—planning, response, and recovery. The <u>Sendai</u> <u>Framework</u> emphasizes that people with disabilities should lead and be central to founding emergency initiatives on principles of universal design. This is echoed at the federal level in Canada, as these principles are captured in national emergency management frameworks (e.g., <u>Emergency Management Strategy for Canada – Towards a Resilient 2030</u>) (Public Safety Canada 2019, 9). Such agreements can act as normative frameworks to assess governments' actions and hold them accountable (Stienstra 2018).

2.1. Evacuations in Canada between 1990 and 2020

Evacuations are uncommon in Canada, as the most common response to a disaster or crisis is to shelter-in-place. Evacuations have become more frequent with larger numbers of people evacuated in the past 10 years especially. While the vast majority of Canadians have never experienced an evacuation, more will as severe weather due to climate change worsens. Figure 2.1.1 details the total known number of evacuees by year and shows that the most significant evacuations have occurred between 2011 and 2020 compared to 1990 and 2010. Table 2.1.2. details the total of known evacuees by decade and the percentage change overtime.

Over 670,000 people have been evacuated in Canada during 273 evacuations between 1990 and 2020. The most common disasters causing an evacuation are flood and wildfire. While floods have been more frequent, wildfires have resulted in more known evacuees. Following wildfires and floods, severe storms have caused the most evacuees between 1990 and 2020. Table 2.1.3. outlines the types of disasters resulting in evacuation and the total of known evacuees.

The impacts of evacuations have become more and more costly. Between 1990 and 2020, these events are estimated to have cost at least \$18,769,311,409 (normalized¹ at \$1,016,142,001). For 2011–2020, the estimated total cost of these disasters increased by 125% compared with 1990–2011 The estimated normalized cost has increased at least 26% from 2011–2020 compared to 1990–1999. Costs for federal Disaster Assistance Agreements (DFAA) also increased by 16% from 2011–2020 compared to 1990–2010. Costs for insurance have increased by 43 times from 2011–2020 compared to 2000–2010. Insured costs account for approximately 45% of the estimated total costs with federal Disaster Assistance Agreements (DFAA) accounting for approximately 5%. Table 2.1.4 details the costs of disasters resulting in evacuation by decade and type of cost.

¹ The Government of Canada defines normalization as "the process of removing the effects of external influences from a set of data to improve consistency and comparability. For example, adjusting data for inflation or the value of money over time" (Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat 2023).



Figure 2.1.1. The most significant evacuations in Canada have occurred between 2011 and 2020

Source: Canadian Disaster Database 2022

Notes on Data: (1) The Canadian Disaster Database (CDD) tracks significant disaster events as defined by the Emergency Management Framework for Canada that meet one or more of the following criteria: 10 or more people killed, 100 or more people affected, an appeal for national/international assistance, historical significance, significant damage/interruption of normal processes. (2) The table includes data of disaster events resulting in known evacuations.

Table 2.1.2. 671,340 people were evacuated in Canada between 1990 and 2020; this trendhas increased over time

Timeframe	Total Known Evacuees	Percentage Change Overtime (%)	
1990–1999	152,341		
2000–2010	206,008	35	
2011–2020	312,991	52	

Source: Canadian Disaster Database 2022

Table 2.1.3. Floods and wildfires have been the most common disasters thatcaused an evacuation (1990–2020)

Disaster Type	Number of Events	Total People Evacuated
Flood	106	248,771
Wildfires	81	293,659
Chemical Spill (Derailment, Vehicle, Marine)	15	9,690
Storms (Specified and Unspecified)	14	33,218
Fire (Residential, Non-Residential, and Non-Residential Arson)	10	10,847
Winter Storm	9	24,952
Chemical Fire	8	13,600
Transportation Accidents (Rail, Air, and Vehicle)	7	3,983
Explosions (Residential and Non-Residential	6	16,700
Tornado	6	2,889
Hurricane / Typhoon / Tropical Storm	3	740
Avalanche	2	71
Infestation	2	1,270
Civil Disturbance / Demonstrations	1	10,000
Landslide	1	300
Earthquake	1	450
Water Infrastructure failure	1	200

Source: CDD 2022

Table 2.1.4. Estimated total costs of disasters causing evacuation have increased by atleast 76% between 2011–2020 and 1990–2010

	1990–1999 (\$ CAD)	2000–2010 (\$ CAD)	2010–2020 (\$ CAD)
Estimated Total Cost	5,923,134,834	2,424,605,827	10,421,570,748
Estimated Normalized Total Cost	391,450,018.7	129,757,763.7	494,934,218.6
Federal DFAA Payments	1,231,292,742	1,025,502,161	2,606,828,748
Provincial DFAA Payments	138,294,090	58,225,994	Not Available
Provincial Department Payments	210,932,095	442,500,556	Not Available
Municipal Costs	2,070,834,882	4,103,577	Not Available
Insurance Payments	1,952,388,000	143,895, 000	6,264,978,000
NGO Payments	13,074,073	20,539	Not available

Source: CDD 2022

Notes on data: Table includes known costs, as there are many cases where the total cost has been estimated or the data may not be available for a specific event.

2.2. Emergency management responsibilities are dispersed across municipal, provincial, and federal government with support from the private and non-profit sectors

There are a variety of decision-makers with responsibilities to mitigate disasters, including all orders of government, the private and non-profit sectors, and emergency management representatives. Provincial and territorial governments have constitutional authority in the case of most disasters and therefore take the lead on managing disaster responses, often in close partnership with municipalities, which implement response plans at the frontline. Provincial, territorial, and municipal governments have worked to improve disaster resilience, including flood resilience and updated building codes for infrastructure, but more needs to be done to improve infrastructure resiliency (Office of the Auditor General of Canada 2016; Public Safety Canada 2022).

Following a disaster, provincial and territorial governments create programs, grants, and incentives that support recovery, and coordinate support to communities. Municipal governments make recovery efforts such as assessing damages and losses, restoring public services, providing emotional support service, and developing recovery plans in conjunction with other orders of government (Government of Alberta 2021).

The federal government provides coordination and funding. Under the *Emergency Management Act,* Public Safety Canada's role is to coordinate federal emergency management activities with the provinces and territories (Office of the Auditor General of Canada 2016). It also supports disaster recovery efforts through the Canadian Armed Forces (CAF), including equipment and personnel. For example, following post-tropical storm Fiona, the CAF was deployed to Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Newfoundland, and Quebec (Lavery 2022; Tutton 2022).

The Canadian Red Cross has a large role in emergency responses throughout the country. It coordinates volunteers, leads programs and services (e.g., emergency shelter and supplies), offers psychosocial support services, raises donation funds, and facilitates financial relief programs (Tutton 2022). The Canadian Red Cross helped over 88,000 households throughout Atlantic Canada who were impacted by post-tropical storm Fiona, including emergency shelter (over 1,200 people), mobilized 520 personnel, supported 40 reception centres and shelters with local authorities, distributed over 5,700 emergency items (e.g., hygiene kits, cots, blankets, and teddy bears for children), and provided psychosocial and well-being support (6,000 conversations) (Canadian Red Cross 2022).

3. Literature Review: Safe restoration of utilities and addressing damage, funds from insurance and disaster financial relief, and access to psychosocial supports are important features of evacuation return and recovery

Recovery following a disaster refers to restoring economic, physical, social, cultural, and environmental systems in affected communities (Kushma 2022, XX). Disaster recovery at the individual level is a process to repair and restore aspects of one's life after an emergency. Recovery efforts at this level can include removing debris, processing insurance and disaster relief claims, replacing lost or destroyed documentation, finding a new residence, accessing mental health support (Government of Alberta 2023).

Overall, the people most impacted by disasters are those who are racialized, low-income, and have a disability. Racial-ethnic minorities and low-income persons have been shown to be more likely to live in disadvantaged and environmentally risky neighborhoods (Crowder and Downey 2010) and to be disproportionately impacted by disasters (Klinenberg 2003; Wisner et al. 2004; Hunter 2005; Elliott & Pais 2006; Falk et al. 2006; Hartman & Squires 2006; Tierney 2006; Sharkey 2007; Brunsma et al. 2007; Alexander, Gaillard, & Wisner 2012; Good, Phibbs, & Williamson 2016; Han et al. 2017; Mukasa 2019). The intersections of social demographic factors, including age, race, gender, ability, income, geography, and primary language make people more vulnerable in an emergency (Yabe & Ukkusuri 2020, Hengfang et al. 2021, & Stienstra et al. 2021). These findings are consistent with prior research on Katrina (Brunsma et al. 2007; Falk et al. 2006; Sharkey 2007), on other environmental disasters (Hunter 2005; Hartman & Squires 2006; Tierney 2006; Wisner et al. 2004), on residential attainment (Crowder & Downey 2010), and international disaster reports (IFRC 2018 and UNDRR 2016). They highlight the unnatural consequences of "natural disasters," which affect socioeconomically vulnerable individuals and communities most (Campanella 2007). Several other factors, such as assistance from organizations (e.g., Federal Emergency Management Agency), are also important considerations (Graif 2016). Researchers note that ethnic minorities and individuals with lower levels of education often experience more looting in an evacuation zone (i.e., the area under evacuation order) than other socio-demographic groups. Moreover, evacuees who are younger, have lower incomes, rent, have children under 18, and are ethnic minorities experience greater levels of income loss following an evacuation. This is consistent with research on social vulnerability to disasters (Wisner et al. 2004; Siebeneck et al. 2013).

Community characteristics, such as social capital, can also determine community preparedness for disasters (Nakagawa & Shaw 2004; Dynes 2006; Airriess et al. 2008; Zakour 2008; Hawkins & Maurer 2010; Wolf et al. 2010; Aldrich 2012; Aldrich & Meyer 2015; Aldrich & Sawada 2015). Strong social ties, collaboration, and leadership help to share knowledge on awareness and eventually activities to reduce disasters (Patterson, Weil, & Patel 2010; Wulandari, Sagala, & Sullivan 2018). Emergency managers highlight strengthening a sense of community as an effective recovery response because communities with stronger relationships can recover more quickly (Government of Alberta 2023). A study found that following Hurricane Katrina, Vietnamese Americans returned to New Orleans earlier and in greater numbers than African Americans and noted that local Vietnamese churches played an important role in early recovery efforts (Li et al. 2010; Siebeneck et al., 2013).

3.1. Managing safe return to communities following an evacuation is a significant challenge, safe utility restoration is often the immediate focus; demographic considerations are also important

In many ways, the decision to announce the return to a community is comparable to a decision to mandate an evacuation (Stallings 1991, p. 183). There are similar concerns for public safety, and individual risk perceptions are important to consider. Factors such as environmental and social observations (e.g., storm conditions, businesses closing, others evacuating), risk perception, socio-demographic characteristics, and personal experiences with disasters influence evacuation decision-making processes (Baker 1991; Cutter 1996; Dash & Gladwin 2007; Lindell & Perry 2004, 2012; Quarantelli 1984; Tierney & Perry 2001; Lindell et al. 2007; Zelinsky & Kosinski 1991; Huang et al. 2012; Siebeneck et al. 2013). People with disabilities and caregivers have unique requirements to ensure their residences are safe and accessible for their return, including access to assistive devices and equipment, access to utilities and telecommunications, considerations for service animals.

Many factors influence residents' decisions to return to their communities. Following Hurricane Katrina residents were more likely to return if they had less than college education, a residence in the New Orleans metropolitan area, a higher paying job, were over 30 years old, employed before the storm, married, or owned a home (Landry et al. 2007).

It is important for members of the public to understand the challenges they may face in returning to their communities following an evacuation, including how to manage loss of utilities (Siebeneck et al. 2013). This understanding can occur through advance preparation, although it is challenging when the majority of people have not experienced an evacuation before.

There have been compliance issues with return plans following past hurricanes (Siebeneck & Cova 2008). Studies have shown that managing safe return is one of the most significant challenges during hurricanes, especially when residents try to return too early (Sorensen et al. 1987; Zelinsky and Kosinski 1991; Siebeneck et al. 2013). Generally, members of the public are warned to wait until experts have determined the safety of a location, checked for structural damage, and resolved utility issues (e.g., power lines). Depending on the emergency, experts may need to determine the extent of damage and contamination, such as radiation (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 4 April 2018; Government of Alberta 2023). Evacuees who return too early could compromise efforts to maintain security in an evacuated area, and it can be dangerous. Assessments are needed to determine whether buildings are stable and have safe access to water, sewerage, and electrical power (McEntire & Cope 2004). Communities should be able to prioritize their needs based on their own assessments and standards. Delays in returning to a community can impact not only individuals, but local economies as well (Lane et al. 2003; Siebeneck et al. 2013).

In the United States, FEMA facilitates a Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) program. The program educates volunteers about disaster preparedness and provides training about basic disaster response skills (e.g., fire safety, light search and rescue, team organization, disaster medical operations). The goal is to provide a consistent and nationwide approach to train volunteers that responders can rely on for support during disaster situations (FEMA 2023). The Government of British Columbia has developed an initiative modelled on a California program that trains volunteer engineers to help determine when communities are safe

to return to following a natural disaster. These volunteers are part of the Canadian Red Cross's Emergency Management Team and have expertise in engineering, architecture, and other related fields (Canadian Red Cross 2023).

3.2. Insurance and disaster relief programs have a role in disaster recovery; residents need complete knowledge of their coverage and claim systems should be user-friendly and efficient

The Vice President Atlantic for the Insurance Bureau of Canada (IBC) described insurers as the "second responders" to disaster events. Insurance for homes and contents supports recovery after disaster, and if effective can reduce financial impacts and stress following a disaster (Dixon, Shochete, & Shakespeare 2015). The role of insurance in emergency management policies and processes has been explored in academic literature and there are many benefits as well as criticisms of the insurance system (Booth & Harwood 2016; O'Hare, White, & Connelley 2016; Eriksen, McKinnon, & de Vet 2020). Criticisms include the focus of insurance being mostly in terms of finances, with less focus on wellbeing, and that the process can be difficult to navigate (Eriksen & Simon 2017; Eriksen, McKinnon, & de Vet 2020). Concerns have been raised about people who are uninsured or underinsured, as well as people located in high-risk areas (Quantum Market Research 2013; Eriksen, McKinnon, & de Vet 2020). Moreover, many insurance programs are designed to build things back the way they were, with possible updates to meet building codes, rather than build back better (BBB).²

Disaster relief programs also provide financial support following an emergency for a variety of purposes. For example, governments can create funding programs that target damages not covered by insurance (e.g., replacing supplies, removing damaged trees) (discussed further in section 3.3.2) (Office of the Premier 14 October 2022). Donations to charities and organizations like the Red Cross also play an important role in disaster relief. Relief efforts following post-tropical storm Fiona were the largest Red Cross response in the country (Smellie 7 February 2023). There can be tensions between insurance and disaster-relief funding programs, including charitable donations, and potential to counteract efforts if these are not considered when designing programs. For example, insurance and relief programs may duplicate efforts to reimburse residents for recovery costs rather than target specific needs.

² The United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction defines BBB as "the use of the recovery, rehabilitation and reconstruction phases after a disaster to increase the resilience of nations and communities through integrating disaster-risk-reduction measures into the restoration of physical infrastructure and societal systems, and into the revitalization of livelihoods, economies, and the environment" (UNDRR 2023).

33.2.1. Role of insurance in disaster recovery

Insurance and government disaster-relief funding are important for household disaster recovery (Hofmann 2022). There is often confusion about what is covered by insurance, as different causes have different insurance implications (e.g., damage from a fire compared to flood damage). People with disabilities may have additional insurance implications to make necessary repairs and replace damaged assistive devices and other equipment. Of the over 22% of Canadians that report a disability, nearly half (44.9%) required at least one type of assistive device or aid, or an accessibility feature in their home (Choi 2021). Provincial and territorial governments, non-profit organizations (e.g., March of Dimes), and Veterans Affairs Canada offer support for people with disabilities to access assistive devices (Government of Canada 2007).

Financial preparedness is recommended to help make recovery efforts more efficient, and communities more resilient. Community resilience is defined as "a community's or region's capability to withstand significant multi-hazard threats" (Hofmann 2022). Steps taken by individuals to secure insurance, prepare documentation in advance (e.g., list of belongings), and become knowledgeable about how to make a claim can support the return process (Government of Alberta May 2021). A lack of effective disaster recovery policies and insurance claims management undermine efforts to build community resilience, as delays for reimbursement impact recovery and preparation for future disasters. Insurance policies and coverage options are often complex. Confusion about deductibles, for example, limit an individual's ability to make informed decisions and can result in gaps in coverage. Individual mitigation actions, such as decisions regarding insurance, depend on many factors (e.g., risk awareness, premium price, deductible, capacity to pay, perceived risk) (CCIR 2023).

Generally, the first insurance money paid out following a property loss is additional living expenses (ALEs). ALE benefits cover immediate and critical needs, including food and shelter, following a loss. An ALE "is any necessary increase in living expenses incurred by the insured so that his household can maintain its normal standard of living" (Alford & Pringle 2007). If a policyholder's home is not livable or tenable, then the "Fair Rental Value" for the residence, or rented portion of the residence, is paid. Additional living expenses are reimbursable if required to maintain a normal standard of living, as has been enforced by many courts (Alford & Pringle 2007). Following post-tropical storm Fiona, nearly \$20 million was allocated specifically for ALEs.

In the southern U.S., Hurricane Katrina killed more than 1,200 people and caused an estimated US\$125 billion in damages and US\$60 billion in insurance losses, with over 1.7 million claims across six states. The federal government spent over US\$110 billion in relief and recovery efforts. Recovery from Hurricane Katrina was fraught with challenges, including conflicting statements from local, state, and national government officials about funding sources, and roles and responsibilities (Hofmann 2022).

Low-income housing residents may not be able to maintain standards of living and cover out-ofpocket costs for repairs or disaster-risk improvements simultaneously, so early and efficient payouts are required. People with disabilities also have unique requirements to ensure their homes are safe to live in (e.g., assistive devices and equipment, infrastructure, clearance of debris, specific concerns for utility restoration, considerations for service animals). Massive catastrophes such as Hurricane Katrina and, more recently, post-tropical storm Fiona in Canada, have exposed weaknesses in the insurance claims management process. For example, homeowners were still struggling with insurance claims over six months after Fiona (Cameron 2023; Pottie 2023). Specific insurance coverage for hurricanes is rare in Canada. Wind damage is often covered, but coverage for damage due to flooding is more complicated. Overland flood insurance may be available unless a residence is in a known flood plain; the source of the water is an important factor (Insurance Bureau of Canada 2022; Lord 2022). For example, damages caused by storm surges are not covered (Lord 2022). Insurance companies paid \$840 million to repair damaged homes and small businesses—the largest payout ever in Atlantic Canada. \$20 million of this was allocated for ALES, as stated above. Effective management of insurance claims processes can be more challenging if the processes themselves are difficult to navigate, if there is confusion about eligibility, or if there is confusion about government-sponsored buy-out programs. The Canadian Council of Insurance Regulators (CCIR) recognizes that more coordination with governments is necessary to ensure general public understanding of disaster financial assistance programs, including eligibility requirements (i.e., identifying situations where assistance will not be available) (CCIR 2023).

Disasters can be opportunities to rebuild physical, social, environmental, and economic systems to improve resiliency,³ often described as "building back better" (BBB). BBB improves resilience by integrating disaster-risk-reduction measures into reconstruction, restoring physical infrastructure and societal systems, as well as revitalizing livelihoods, economies, and the environment. Criticisms of BBB include that it lacks a people-centred housing recovery approach and an understanding of community-level needs and priorities. There are also many different interpretations and applications of BBB. Resiliency strategies include whose resilience is being built (context), shocks and stresses (disturbances), ability to manage shocks/stresses (capacity to respond), and build back better (reaction). It is connected to investments in both physical systems (e.g., infrastructure, material, labor) and social systems (Hofmann 2022).

3.2.2. Role of disaster relief funding programs in recovery

There are many kinds of disaster relief funding. At the federal level, disaster financial assistance arrangements (DFAA) fund the provinces and territories to support their recovery from natural disasters. Recovery payments have greatly increased over the past decade compared to the rest of the program's 45-year history. Between 2010 and 2015, the federal government spent \$3.3 billion on DFAA, compared to a total of \$2.4 billion for the previous 39 years (Office of the Auditor General of Canada 2016).

Post-disaster relief spending is laden with "political opportunism and short-sightedness." Politicians pledging and deploying personnel and resources post-disaster are opportunities for governments to appear generous and strong (Eriksen, McKinnon, & de Vet 2020; Coppel & Chester 2014 ,13). Many governments rely on charities and other not-for-profit organizations to support recovery efforts, especially to provide mental health and social support. Often these organizations are underfunded and understaffed, and may not be formally included in

³ Resilience refers to a range of systems that can withstand shocks and stresses, recover following an event, and adapt to new circumstances (Hofmann 2022).

emergency response plans (Eriksen 2019; Australian Red Cross National Disaster Resilience Roundtable 2014; VCOSS 2017).

Through the DFAA, the federal government covers up to 90% of eligible provincial expenses following a disaster, including providing transportation, emergency food and shelter, and restoring or replacing uninsurable dwellings and items (Office of the Prime Minister October 2021). Through Provincial Disaster Financial Assistance, the majority of the projects funded are for provincial and municipal infrastructure.

The Prime Minister announced the Hurricane Fiona Recovery Fund to provide up to an additional \$300 million over two years (starting in 2022) to support those impacted by the storm and long-term recovery efforts. The efforts included restoring economic activity, repairs to improve infrastructure, ensuring the safety of navigation, and protecting marine wildlife. The new fund was intended to support costs that may not be covered by existing federal programs (e.g., DFAA) and is in addition to the matched funds donated to the Canadian Red Cross (Office of the Prime Minister 4 October 2021).

One noted challenge from the Auditor General is that federal financial disaster programs do not encourage provinces, territories, and municipalities to invest in projects to improve their overall resiliency to severe weather, particularly regarding infrastructure. The report stated that the government made funds available through various programs between 2008 and 2016,⁴ but little was spent on disaster mitigation projects. The federal government had \$253 million available between 2011 and 2016 through three programs,⁵ but less than half was applied for and even less paid out by the end of 2016 (less than 25% of approved funds). Only about one-third of proposed projects involved infrastructure improvements. The report noted that the federal government has not put in place funding incentives to improve infrastructure resilience significantly across the country.

Provincial governments also can create funding programs to support disaster recovery. The Government of Nova Scotia created recovery programs following post-tropical storm Fiona to replace spoiled food and supplies from power outages and remove damaged trees. Targeted programs were created to support farmers and woodlot owners impacted by the storm (Office of the Premier, October 2022).

The Red Cross raised \$54.2 million in donations for its efforts following Fiona, including \$22.3 million in matched funds from the federal government (Tutton September 2022). The donations supported on-the-ground operations as well as emergency financial assistance. Of this, \$30 million was distributed as \$500 grant payments to registered households in Eastern Canada impacted by the storm. There were logistical challenges when distributing the funds, as it took public agencies over two months to distribute the money. On Prince Edward Island, some residents spent hours in lineups to confirm their identity before they could be paid, sometimes

⁴ Notes on federal programs: (1) 2011 Flood Mitigation Investments program (Public Safety Canada), (2) New Building Canada Fund (Infrastructure Canada) (14 types of infrastructure priorities, but only one is related to disaster mitigation), (3) National Disaster Mitigation Program (Public Safety Canada), (4) Disaster Financial Assistance Arrangements (Public Safety Canada), which focuses on disaster recovery.

⁵ The three programs assessed: (1) 2011 Flood Mitigation Investments program, (2) New Building Canada Fund, (3) National Disaster Mitigation Program.

only to be turned away and told to come back another day (Tutton September 2022; Smellie 2023).

The Institute for Catastrophic Loss Reduction has noted that governments need more robust disaster relief funding plans that can quickly get money to people in need. Disaster relief is often done on an ad hoc basis and treated as a one-off occurrence rather than an ongoing process. There is also a problematic reliance on public donations as a revenue source for disaster relief funding and for volunteers to take on extensive responsibilities (Smellie February 2023).

3.3. Psychosocial supports in disaster recovery, disasters can accentuate impacts on mental health, particularly post-traumatic stress

Each disaster will have different impacts on individuals and their mental health, which vary from person to person. Recovery efforts can be impacted by the mental health of the residents, and challenges can increase further with prolonged disruption to mental health services (Davidson and McFarlane 2006; Agyapong et al. 2021). Disaster survivors generally show high rates of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) compared to people who have not experienced a disaster (Bryant et al. 2014; Dai et al. 2016; Galea et al. 2007; Grievink et al. 2007; Marshall et al. 2007; Zaffina et al. 2014). This is also true for emergency service workers who show high rates of PTSD, even years after a disaster (Ask & Gudmundsdottir 2014; Berninger et al. 2010a, b; Agyapong et al. 2021). There are also considerations for people with mental illnesses prior to the disaster, such as re-traumatization for people with PTSD, anxiety, and depression. Supports for families are also vital, especially families of children with disabilities.

Generally, people are at a higher risk for PTSD if they are female, young, of a racial/ethnic minority, of a lower socio-economic status, with previous trauma, personal and family history of mental illness, unexpected and sudden death of loved ones, loss of property, and limited social support (Briere & Elliott 2000; Kessler et al. 1995; Ozer et al. 2003; Papanikolaou et al. 2011; Scher & Ellwanger 2009; Van Ameringen et al. 2008). Injury, loss of a loved one, and property damage are often the most significant factors for PTSD (Marshall et al. 2007; Agyapong et al. 2021). While nearly half of individuals diagnosed with PTSD are expected to recover within three years, disaster-related PTSD has one of the highest remission rates (60%) and those who do not improve after a few years often experience prolonged PTSD (Morina et al. 2014; Davidson & McFarlane 2006; Kessler et al. 1995; Agyapong et al. 2021).

This first study of mental health impacts of the 2016 Fort McMurray wildfire estimates PTSD prevalence rates⁶ at 12.8% six months after the fires (14.9% females and 8.7% males) (Agyapong et al. 2021). A follow-up of flood survivors in China showed disaster-related PTSD 15 years after the event. This was especially true for people who lost relatives (odds ratio 12.37), received low levels of social support (odds ratio 5.47), experienced physical injury (odds ratio 5.01), or used negative coping styles (odds ratio of 4.92) (Dai et al. 2016; Agyapong et al. 2021).

⁶ Experiencing PTSD symptoms for at least one month.

4. Our Approach and Methods

Our specific objectives were to (1) partner leading risk scholars with those responsible for mass evacuation to develop a shared understanding of evacuation risks, (2) examine what guides the thinking and actions of those responsible for evacuation, considering the knowledge we have of certain risks and the contextual pressures exerted on the regime, and (3) improve dialogue among researchers, practitioners, and communities in this domain.

The research questions guiding us were, what are the key accessibility considerations for return and recovery post-evacuation? And more specifically, what impacts would people with disabilities and caregivers experience during return and recovery following an evacuation? We used a cybernetic understanding of control, which examines a system's ability to gather information, set standards, and change behaviour. We collected and analyzed data in our survey and roundtable according to these three themes.

Emergency evacuation is an interdisciplinary event and involves organizations from many sectors and orders of government. In 2020, an advisory board was established to recognize the interdisciplinary nature of emergency evacuation and implement principles of community-based participatory research. The Board's members guided research for the project, including providing feedback on research instruments (e.g., survey guides), reviewing materials, and participating in roundtable sessions. The Board comprised academics and representatives from partner organizations in the public sector, private businesses, emergency services, disability organizations, and NGOs.

Scholarly literature and other publicly available material such as media articles and policies was reviewed. We relied on data from the United States because more research regarding evacuation has been done using American examples, particularly regarding hurricane evacuations. There are gaps in the literature about return to community following an evacuation, particularly about people with disabilities.

Eight participants from public, private, and non-profit sector organizations responsible for evacuation completed a survey. A total of 29 participants who self-identified as having a disability or caregiver responsibilities were also surveyed, including members of registered disability-related organizations, to understand the perspectives of persons with disabilities and their priorities during an evacuation. The vast majority of respondents with disabilities or caregiver responsibilities have not experienced an evacuation themselves, which limits the data as many people can only imagine how they would respond.

Participants were recruited though the project's Advisory Board members and their respective organizations. The surveys were distributed by email and hosted on Opinio between October and December 2021. There were challenges to engaging representatives from emergency services due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic.

A roundtable on the topic of return to the community following an emergency evacuation was conducted on April 17, 2023 with 15 members of the Advisory Board and invited stakeholders. The roundtable was an opportunity to develop a collaborative community of practice in this area, discuss experiences and contexts relating to return to community after an evacuation, provide feedback on report drafts, and identify areas for further study.

5. Results

5.1. People with disabilities survey findings

65% of respondents personally identify as having a disability while 25% identify as a support person for someone with a disability.⁷ Our participants' disabilities included the following:

• Blindness

- Hearing loss
- Chronic pain
- Deafness
- ADHDDepression
- DeafblindnessPhysical impairment

Visual impairment

• Autism Spectrum Disorder

Many respondents indicated use of assistive devices and medications, including white cane, walker, hearing aids, service animals, reliance on a support person, alternative formats (e.g., braille, text-based emergency announcements and captioning, large print). Implementing mechanisms for decision-makers to hear directly from potential evacuees with disabilities about their needs was raised by respondents as an area to improve. This is especially important for invisible disabilities such as autism and dementia. Families especially will face challenges and need support. A "one size fits all" approach is ineffective at meeting a variety of functional needs.

The majority of people have not experienced an evacuation, meaning most people can only imagine the scenario and how they would respond. 90% of respondents have not experienced an evacuation, but approximately 30% of respondents have participated in an evacuation drill or practice through school, work, and summer camps.

Survey respondents were asked about the top accessibility issues that came to mind regarding evacuation. Responses are summarized and ranked by frequency in Table 5.1. The following issues were identified as being top of mind for survey respondents: transportation, access to equipment and supplies, reliance on someone to intervene—especially for people without personal support networks, and how to access medical treatment if necessary. These same concerns relate to returning to communities following an evacuation.

With respect to return to community specifically, participants noted that this phase might be one of the most challenging within the overall emergency response. The importance of planning for safe return in advance of an emergency was highlighted. Respondents noted that doing any repair or cleaning work could be a significant challenge, including ensuring utilities and equipment were reconnected safely. Access to necessities, such as safe food, was also identified. Some stated they would need a someone to intervene and support them, including to assist with getting meals if their kitchen were inoperable and food was spoiled.

Key concerns included access to information, access to mental health services, access to medical treatment, plans for successful return and recovery, and lack of family and community

⁷ The support roles included supporting newcomers to Canada who have disabilities, day programming for people with disabilities, organizations supporting adults with intellectual disabilities, regional EMO, and parents of young adults with intellectual disabilities.

support. There are also particular considerations for service animals, including appropriate space and supplies. Additional concerns outlined by respondents included access to financial resources, home care, and other supports. Many respondents raised concerns about a lack of personal support networks, or difficulty for friends and family to intervene in an emergency. Table 5.1 outlines the accessibility concerns listed by respondents, from most to least frequent.

Some participants noted confusion about who is responsible to support efforts to return after an emergency, and whether there is sufficient training. Training to specifically ensure the transition back is emotionally supported for evacuees in addition to physical support. This includes understanding of varying abilities. Ensuring appropriate staff and volunteer capacity was also noted. There were concerns that people could "fall through the cracks" if there are jurisdictional issues.

The ability to access financial resources such as cash and banking systems was also raised, let alone concerns about having enough funds to cover costs in an emergency. Some respondents said they felt fortunate to have insurance and other financial resources to recover following a disaster; not all are so fortunate. Other participants emphasized the need for financial support, noting that not everyone can afford the same degree of insurance coverage or expenses to cover a deductible out-of-pocket. Some respondents noted they would rely on insurance to replace lost property. Another consideration is if medical equipment or an assistive device needed to be replaced. Support to navigate the insurance claim process was recommended.

Respondents stated that mental health and social supports would also be necessary, including opportunities to debrief. It is important to ensure a trauma-informed response to address the emotional hardships and stress that accompany disasters. Trauma-informed and violence-informed approaches recognize the connections between violence, trauma, and negative health outcomes and aim to increase safety, control, and resilience for people seeking services due to trauma and/or have a history of experiencing trauma or violence (Public Health Agency of Canada 2018). The importance of keeping families together was emphasized and noted as being important for caretaking considerations. A survey respondent noted that the COVID-19 pandemic was raised as a lesson that emergencies can "change people". Respite services were recommended to allow family members and caregivers the opportunity to address repairs and other recovery responsibilities. This can enable families to conduct recovery work while their loved one is cared for.

Table 5.1. Access to information, mental health services, access to medical treatment, and ability to maintain hygiene are some of the top-of-mind issues of surveyed people with disabilities and caregivers relating to return from an evacuation.

What are the top accessibility issues that come to mind relating to return			
from evacuation?			
1. Access to information (e.g., print, non-print, digital)			
2. Access to mental health and emotional support services			
3. Access to medical treatment (e.g., medications, treatments)			
4. Ability to maintain personal hygiene			
5. Plans in place for successful return and recovery			
6. Whether or not first responders are aware of who and where vulnerable people are			
7. Need for an intervenor with appropriate skills to provide support			
8. Lack of community and family support			
Additional information provided by survey participants			
Knowledge sharing is important and needs to be intentionally done			
Standards for evacuation procedures for people with disabilities.			
Timely, accurate, and accessible information is important.			
A significant portion of the population struggles with accessibility, financial			
resources, home care, and other supports.			

5.2. Emergency management survey findings

80% of survey respondents had roles relating to evacuation or emergency management and rated their knowledge of evacuation processes as 8–10 out of 10. All respondents also rated their knowledge of the accessibility of evacuation processes as 7–9 out of 10. 80% of respondents had previously supported evacuation efforts of houses, buildings (e.g., long-term care facilities), and communities (e.g., First Nations), including evacuations due to fire, flooding, and extreme weather events.

These evacuations included supporting people with disabilities. 60% of respondents rate the accessibility of current evacuation processes at 6 out of 10, whereas the remaining 40% rate this at 2 out of 10. This demonstrates a discrepancy, even within the emergency management community, about the degree of accessibility of current evacuation processes. Part of this can be attributed to differences between jurisdictions, the disconnect between strategy, standards, and implementation, as well as issues communicating evacuation planning in advance that reaches the public effectively.

80% of respondents indicated participation in an evacuation practice and 90% participated in multi-organizational meetings about evacuation or emergency management more generally. Organizations involved include RCMP, EHS, Fire Department, emergency management organizations, Ground Search and Rescue, Red Cross, public health, emergency services, animal health support, Autism Canada community advisors and ambassadors, organizations within the disability community, First Nations, and Indigenous Services Canada. In terms of improving these meeting spaces, respondents recommend increasing sharing of best practices

and identified lessons, as well as expanding active engagement with people with disabilities and other stakeholders.

The accessibility considerations that were top of mind for the emergency management respondents highlighted the importance of planning that considers a diverse array of functional needs (e.g., visible and invisible disabilities), creation of back-up plans, and plans to address specific accommodations. It is vital that the disability community be active in the planning, learning, and post-event debriefs to ensure their lived experiences shape responses. The support of families, friends, and communities becomes increasingly important during emergencies but also might not be feasible depending on the circumstances. Survey respondents in the emergency management sector recognize that the public lacks the knowledge to prepare for an evacuation effectively.

Survey respondents identified that improvements should be made to educate the general public about how to better prepare for evacuations. One recommendation was to implement mandates to ensure evacuation plans with legislated considerations for people with disabilities. Community organizations, such as disability organizations, should be involved well in advance of an emergency to address any gaps and improve training for personnel at all steps of evacuation. Opportunities for people with disabilities, caregivers, and emergency mangers to plan for emergencies together in advance are important. Emergency plans need to capture the needs of people with disabilities and caregivers, and these communities can better prepare for emergencies with the technical knowledge and experience of emergency managers and responders. In Manitoba, the Disability Emergency Management Network (DEM-Net) and in British Columbia the Disability Alliance British Columbia takes an active role in emergency planning and training (Independent Living Resource Centre 2023; Disability Alliance British Columbia 2023).

Specifically relating to return to the community, emergency manager respondents recommended that home checks be required before returning people with disabilities to their residence. This includes ensuring the residence is operational (e.g., access to utilities, free of hazards) and there is access to social supports (e.g., food, transportation, mental health services, support workers). There are also considerations for any medical equipment and assistive devices that impact safe return to community.

5.3. Roundtable findings

A roundtable on the topic of return to the community following an emergency evacuation was conducted on April 17, 2023 with 15 members of the Advisory Board and invited stakeholders. Participants discussed experiences and contexts relating to return to community after an evacuation.

It is important to consider processes that determine whether or not a residence is safe and accessible to return. Similar considerations also relate to the shelter phase of evacuation. Each jurisdiction has its own process to lift an emergency order that has mandated an evacuation. At times, third parties (e.g., contractors) are involved in repair work. Concerns about impacts on dignity of risk were raised as a caution to ensure responses are not paternalistic and limit the dignity of the people processes are intended to support.

The fact that evacuations are rare events and the majority of Canadians have never experienced them means that there will be significant challenges for first-time evacuees as these events increase in frequency and severity. Members at the roundtable raised that it is important to ensure that emergency responses consider the needs of renters and people in poverty in addition to homeowners.

Personal support workers are often strained for resources and capacity and this would be accentuated during an emergency situation where there will be increased reliance on personal support workers. There needs to be support for workers in these fields.

The role of insurance is important as recently demonstrated in the response to post-tropical storm Fiona. Residential insurance claims in response to Fiona were 4 to 5 times higher than other disasters. Losses were most significant in Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island.

Typically, insurance companies have the goal to repair and rebuild in the same location. The importance of implementing "build back better" concepts emerged, particularly with respect to insurance processes and the current focus on adhering to minimum standards. While insurance companies will make repairs according to the most up-to-date building codes, more should be done to incentivize and encourage principles of building back better to improve resiliency rather than returning people to exactly what they had in place before the disaster. "Managed retreat" was also discussed as processes to relocate families living in vulnerable areas (e.g., coastal).

Training should be put in place for all professionals and volunteers involved in emergency response (e.g., responders, insurance adjusters, non-profit volunteers) that is led by people with disabilities with the aim of making emergency responses more accessible to diverse functional needs.

Implications of widespread issues with access to safe and accessible housing on emergency responses were raised. It is also important to recognize the needs of rural communities and implications of access, or lack thereof, to transportation.

6. Discussion

We learned through the survey, from both emergency managers and people with disabilities, that top concerns with return to community relate to addressing damage and debris. Concerns about access to utilities were raised, including necessities such as food and water. Respondents with disabilities noted that repair work is a concern, and caregivers identified specific concerns for managing repairs while providing caregiving support. Emergency manager respondents recommended that specific criteria be identified for emergency personnel to determine that a residence is operational (e.g., access to utilities, free of hazards) must be known, including access to supplies and supports (e.g., food, transportation, mental health services, support workers). There are also considerations for any medical equipment and assistive devices that impact safe return to community for people with disabilities, as well as service animals and their needs.

Planning for safe return for a community is comparable to preparing to evacuate, where advance preparation is paramount. Members of the public, especially those with disabilities and caregiving responsibilities, should know as much as possible about what they can expect upon return to the community, including what supports will be available and who will be responsible for specific duties.

Insurance was a common consideration raised by our survey respondents. Some people with disabilities noted they were comfortable with their insurance coverage and felt fortunate to have financial resources to help recover from an emergency. Respondents confirmed their reliance on insurance to recover and replace lost or damaged property. Knowledge about what specific policies cover is important, as coverage changes depending on the emergency (e.g., fire damage compared to flood damage) and the majority of policyholders are unaware of the nuances of their coverage. It was also raised that people have varying degrees of insurance coverage and may not be able to pay out-of-pocket expenses (e.g., insurance deductibles). The academic literature shows that there are many different forms of insurance and not all of them meet the needs to recover from every disaster. Although past disasters have shown insurance payouts can be slow and the claims process cumbersome, insurance coverage is a powerful tool for recovery. Respondents recommended that advanced preparation and knowledge about the insurance process would be beneficial, as well as support to navigate insurance claims following an emergency. Support for caregivers while they navigate the insurance process was also recommended. Specific consideration is also necessary for processes to replace medical equipment and assistive devices.

Much of the focus has been on setting standards to make emergency management processes more accessible. Information gathering and behaviour change are also necessary. Survey respondents noted that training, particularly in emotional support and trauma-informed approaches, is important. Not only was the issue of having sufficient staff and volunteer capacity to support return and recovery raised, but also the importance of capacity for emotional, psychological, and trauma-informed support. Community organizations, such as disability organizations, should be involved well in advance of an emergency to address any gaps and improve training.

Survey respondents raised mental health services and social supports as important considerations. The scholarly literature shows that increases in mental health issues follow a

disaster, specifically PTSD. The literature suggests that prolonged suffering from PTSD can have long-term health, economic, and psychological impacts.

7. Areas for further research

Since many people have not experienced an evacuation, strategies to prepare for many firsttime evacuees will be important for return and recovery. Communities should be engaged in advance of an emergency to prepare, but many challenges can arise with first-time evacuees even with advance preparation. In particular, preparation and knowledge about insurance and disaster-relief funding processes would be beneficial, as many people may not be aware of the specifics of their coverage or how their coverage varies according to the disaster. Support to navigate insurance and relief-funding processes following an emergency is also recommended. People with disabilities and caregiver respondents recommended provision of caregiving services to enable caregivers to complete return and recovery tasks (e.g., repair work, insurance processes, clearing damage or debris).

Further, much of the scholarly literature focuses on countries other than Canada, particularly the US. There is especially a gap in identifying specific considerations for people with disabilities and caregivers in the return and recovery phase of an emergency evacuation.

Further research is also needed on the reasons why people decide whether or not to return from an evacuation.

Increases in disasters have intensified discussions of voluntary registries of vulnerable persons., where volunteered information is collected and accessed for emergencies. Many emergency managers may not be aware of the access needs within their communities, who would be the most vulnerable in an emergency, and where those people would be. Vulnerable persons registries are a tool to help address this, but there are many challenges regarding information management, communication, and governance. There are Canadian and international jurisdictions using these registries to look to.

Other areas of future study include improved engagement with people with disabilities in advance of an emergency, the role of community bonds and social capital in building community resilience, specific considerations for caregivers, and comparisons between urban and rural communities.

Research into appropriate context and best practices to enable evacuation training, especially in a way that addresses potential panic, is necessary. Additional research in this area will be necessary as impacts of severe weather and climate change become more significant, recognition of the importance of accessibility progresses, and rights for people with disabilities advance.

Appendix A: Definitions

Build Back Better (BBB) refers to "the use of the recovery, rehabilitation and reconstruction phases to improve physical, social, and economic resilience" (United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction 2023; Hofmann 2022).

Disability is defined in the *Accessible Canada Act* as "any impairment, including a physical, mental, intellectual, cognitive, learning, communication or sensory impairment — or a functional limitation — whether permanent, temporary or episodic in nature, or evident or not, that, in interaction with a barrier, hinders a person's full and equal participation in society" (Government of Canada 2019).

Normalization is defined by the Government of Canada as "the process of removing the effects of external influences from a set of data to improve consistency and comparability. For example, adjusting data for inflation or the value of money over time" (Treasury Board of Canada Secretariat 2023).

Resilience refers to a range of systems that are able to remain stable when facing shocks and stresses, recover following an event, and adapt to new circumstances (Hofmann 2022). There are many definitions of resilience across many schools of thought, and we use the above definition for the purposes of this paper.

Recovery refers to the restoring of livelihoods and health, including economic, physical, social, cultural, and environmental assets, systems, and activities, of a disaster-affected community (Kushma 2022, xx)

Trauma-informed and violence-informed approaches recognize the connections between violence, trauma, negative health outcomes, and behaviours. These approaches aim to increase safety, control, and resilience for people seeking services in relation to experiences of trauma and/or who have a history of experiencing trauma or violence (Public Health Agency of Canada 2018).

8. References

Agyapong, J.M., Omege, J., Denga, E., Nwaka, B., Akinjise, I., Corbett, S.E., Brown, M., Chue, P., Li, X.-M., & Greenshaw, A. (2021). Prevalence Rates and Correlates of Likely Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in Residents of Fort McMurray 6 Months After a Wildfire. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *19*(3), 632–650. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-019-00096-z</u>

Airriess, C.A., Li, W., Leong, K., Chen, A., & Keith, V. (2008). Church-based social capital, networks and geographical scale: Katrina evacuation, relocation, and recovery in a New Orleans Vietnamese American community. *Geoforum*, 39(3), 1333–1346. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1016/j.geoforum.2007.11.003</u>

Aldrich, D. (2012). Social, not physical, infrastructure: The critical role of civil society after the 1923 Tokyo earthquake. *Disasters*, 36(3), 398–419. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1111/j.1467-7717.2011.01263.x</u>

Aldrich, D., & Meyer, M. (2015). Social capital and community resilience." *American Behavioral Scientist*, 59(2), 254–269. 10.1177/0002764214550299

Aldrich, D., & Sawada, Y. (2015). The physical and social determinants of mortality in the 3.11 tsunami. *Social Science & Medicine*, 124, 66–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.11.025</u>

Alexander, D., Gaillard, J., and Wisner, B. (2012). Disability and Disaster. In *The Routledge Handbook of Hazards and Disaster Risk Reduction*, edited by B. Wisner, J. C. Gaillard, & I. Kelman, 413–423. London: Routledge.

Alford, H. & Pringle, G. R. (2007). Homeowner's insurance: additional living expenses - the insurer's ounce of prevention. *FDCC Quarterly*, *57*(3), 267– <u>https://dal.novanet.ca/permalink/01NOVA_DAL/ev10a8/cdi_proquest_journals_201231788</u>

Ask, E., & Gudmundsdottir, D. (2014). A longitudinal study of posttraumatic stress symptoms and their predictors in rescue workers after a firework factory disaster. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, *16*(2), 316–321.

Australian Red Cross National Disaster Resilience Roundtable. (2014). Beyond the Blanket: The Role of Not-For-Profits and Non-Traditional Stakeholders in Emergency Management. *Melbourne: Australian Red Cross National Disaster Resilience Roundtable.* <u>https://www.redcross.org.au/globalassets/cms-assets/documents/emergency-services/2014-disaster-resilience-roundtable-report---final.pdf</u>

Avery, E.J., Graham, M., & Park, S. (2016). Planning makes (closer to) perfect: exploring United States' local government officials' evaluations of crisis management. *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management,* 24 (2), 73-81. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1111/1468-5973.12109</u>

Baker E.J. (1991). "Hurricane evacuation behavior." Int J Mass Emerg Disaster 9:287–310

Baum, K. & Ha, T. (27 January 2023). Why your home isn't built to last against extreme weather. *Globe and Mail.* <u>https://www.theglobeandmail.com/canada/article-houses-extreme-weather-building-codes/</u>

Berninger, A., Webber, M. P., Cohen, H. W., Gustave, J., Lee, R., Niles, J. K., & Prezant, D. J. (2010a). Trends of elevated PTSD risk in firefighters exposed to the World Trade Center disaster: 2001-2005. *Public Health Reports*, 125(4), 556–566. doi:<u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/003335491012500411</u>.

Berninger, A., Webber, M. P., Niles, J. K., Gustave, J., Lee, R., Cohen, H. W., & Prezant, D. J. (2010b). Longitudinal study of probable post-traumatic stress disorder in firefighters exposed to the World Trade Center disaster. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 53(12), 1177–1185. doi:<u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1002/ajim.20894</u>.

Booth, K. & Harwood, A. (2016). Insurance as catastrophe: A geography of house and contents insurance in bushfire-prone places. *Geoforum*, *69*, 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2015.12.004

Briere, J., & Elliott, D. (2000). Prevalence, characteristics, and long-term sequelae of natural disaster exposure in the general population. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 13*(4), 661–679. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1023/a:1007814301369</u>.

Brunsma, D. L., Overfelt, D., & Picou, J. S. (2007). *The sociology of Katrina: Perspectives on a modern catastrophe*. Lanham, Maryland, USA: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers. <u>https://searchworks.stanford.edu/view/6966603</u>

Bryant, R. A., Waters, E., Gibbs, L., Gallagher, H. C., Pattison, P., Lusher, D., & Forbes, D. (2014). Psychological outcomes following the Victorian Black Saturday bushfires. *Australia and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 48(7), 634–643. doi:<u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/0004867414534476</u>.

Cameron, J. (4 January 2023). Insurance delays causing even bigger problems for N.S. homeowners trying to rebuild after Fiona. *CBC News*. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/nova-scotia/fiona-hurricane-damages-cape-breton-insurance-1.6702800</u>

Campanella, R. (2007). An ethnic geography of New Orleans. *The Journal of American History, 94*(3), 704–715. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/25095131</u>

Canadian Council of Insurance Regulators (CCIR). (April 2023). Climate Change, Natural Catastrophes and Consumer Awareness. <u>https://www.ccir-ccrra.org/Documents/View/3759</u>

Canadian Red Cross. (2023). Help Canadians Affected by Emergencies and Disasters. <u>https://www.redcross.ca/volunteer/help-canadians-affected-by-emergencies-and-disasters</u>

Canadian Red Cross. (November 2022). Over 88,000 households impacted by Hurricane Fiona provided with assistance from Canadian Red Cross. <u>https://www.redcross.ca/about-us/media-news/news-releases/over-88-000-households-impacted-by-hurricane-fiona-provided-with-assistance-from-canadian-red-</u>

cross#:~:text=The%20Canadian%20Red%20Cross%20has%20provided%20assistance%20to, already%20registered%20do%20not%20need%20to%20register%20again Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (4 April 2018). Stay Tuned to Learn How to Evacuate. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/radiation/emergencies/evacuation.htm</u>

Choi, R. (October 2021). Accessibility Findings from the Canadian Survey on Disability, 2017. *Statistics Canada*. <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/89-654-x/89-654-x2021002-eng.htm</u>

Coppel, C. & Chester, K. (2014). Natural disaster funding arrangements: Productivity commission inquiry report. *Productivity Commission.* At: www.pc.gov.au/inquiries/completed/climate-change-adaptation/report/climate-change-adaptation.pdf.

Crowder, K., & Downey, L. (2010). Inter-neighborhood migration, race, and environmental hazards: Modeling micro-level processes of environmental inequality. *American Journal of Sociology, 115*(4), 1110. <u>https://www-journals-uchicago-edu.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/doi/10.1086/649576</u>

Cutter, S. (1996). Societal vulnerability to environmental hazards. *Int Soc Sci J* 47:525–535. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1111/1468-2451.00053

Dai, R., and Hu, L. (2022). Inclusive Communications in COVID-19: A Virtual Ethnographic Study of Disability Support Network in China. *Disability & Society* 37 (1): 3-21. 10.1080/09687599.2021.1933388

Dai, W., Wang, J., Kaminga, A. C., Chen, L., Tan, H., Lai, Z., & Liu, A. (2016). Predictors of recovery from post-traumatic stress disorder after the dongting lake flood in China: A 13–14 year follow-up study. *BMC Psychiatry*, 16, 382. doi:<u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1186/s12888-016-1097-x</u>.

Dash, N. & Gladwin, H. (2007). Evacuation Decision Making and Behavioral Responses: Individual and Household. *Natural hazards review* 8, no. 3: 69–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)1527-6988(2007)8:3(69)</u>

Davidson, J. R., & McFarlane, A. C. (2006). The extent and impact of mental health problems after disaster. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 67(Suppl 2), 9–14. <u>https://dal.novanet.ca/permalink/01NOVA_DAL/6jog6c/cdi_proguest_journals_208814737</u>

de Vet, Eriksen, C., & McKinnon, S. (2021). Dilemmas, decision-making, and disasters: Emotions of parenting, safety, and rebuilding in bushfire recovery. *Area (London 1969)*, *53*(2), 283–291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/area.12696</u>

Disability Alliance British Columbia. (2023). Emergency Preparedness. https://disabilityalliancebc.org/program/emergency-preparedness/

Dixon, K.M., Shochet, I.M., and Shakespeare-Finch, J. (2015). Stress during the rebuilding phase influenced mental health following two Queensland flood disasters more than the event itself. In: Australian and New Zealand disaster and emergency management conference, Gold Coast, Australia, 3–5 May.

Dynes, R. (2006). Social Capital: Dealing with Community Emergencies. *Homeland security affairs* 2, no. 2.

Enabling Access. (2021). Aging in Place Canada. <u>https://www.enablingaccess.ca/aging-in-place-canada</u>

Eriksen, C. (2019). Coping, caring and believing: The embodied work of disaster recovery workers. *Emotion, Space and Society*, *32*, 100592–. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emospa.2019.100592

Eriksen, C. & Simon, G. (2017). The Affluence–Vulnerability Interface: Intersecting scales of risk, privilege and disaster. *Environment and Planning. A*, *49*(2), 293–313. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308518X16669511

Eriksen, C., McKinnon, S., and de Vet, E. (2020). Why insurance matters: Insights from research post-disaster. *Australian Journal of Emergency Management*, *35*(4), 42–47. https://ezproxy.library.dal.ca/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/why-insurance-matters-insights-research-post/docview/2676088915/se-2 https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.569218657593204

Falk, W. W., Hunt, M. O., & Hunt, L. L. (2006). Hurricane Katrina and New Orleanians' sense of place: Return and reconstitution or "gone with the wind"? *Du Bois Review, 3*(01), 115–128. doi:10.1017/S1742058X06060036

Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). (2023). Get involved with CERT. <u>https://community.fema.gov/PreparednessCommunity/s/welcome-to-cert?language=en_US</u>

Galea, S., Brewin, C. R., Gruber, M., Jones, R. T., King, D. W., King, L. A., & Kessler, R. C. (2007). Exposure to hurricane-related stressors and mental illness after Hurricane Katrina. *Archive of General Psychiatry*, 64(12), 1427–1434. doi:<u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1001/archpsyc.64.12.1427</u>.

Good, G. A., S. Phibbs, & K. Williamson. (2016). Disoriented and Immobile: The Experiences of People with Visual Impairments during and after the Christchurch, New Zealand, 2010 and 2011 Earthquakes. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness* 110 (6): 425–435. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/0145482X1611000605</u>.

Government of Alberta. (1 May 2021). What to do after an emergency. <u>https://open.alberta.ca/publications/what-to-do-after-an-emergency</u>

Government of Alberta. (2023). Before, during and after an emergency. <u>https://www.alberta.ca/what-to-do-before-during-and-after-an-emergency.aspx</u>

Government of Canada. (2007). Seniors and Aging - Assistive Devices. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/healthy-living/your-health/lifestyles/seniors-aging-assistive-devices.html</u> Government of Nova Scotia. (2022). Hurricane Fiona support. <u>https://novascotia.ca/hurricane-fiona-support/</u> Graif, C. (2016). (Un)natural disaster: vulnerability, long-distance displacement, and the extended geography of neighborhood distress and attainment after Katrina. *Population and Environment*, *37*(3), 288–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-015-0243-6</u>

Government of Canada. (2019). Accessible Canada Act. <u>https://www.laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/A-0.6/page-1.html#h-1153414</u>

Graif. (2016). (Un)natural disaster: vulnerability, long-distance displacement, and the extended geography of neighborhood distress and attainment after Katrina. *Population and Environment*, *37*(3), 288–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s1111-015-0243-6</u>

Grievink, L., van der Velden, P. G., Stellato, R. K., Dusseldorp, A., Gersons, B. P., Kleber, R. J., & Lebret, E. (2007). A longitudinal comparative study of the physical and mental health problems of affected residents of the firework disaster Enschede, The Netherlands. *Public Health*, *121*(5), 367–374. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1016/j.puhe.2006.09.025</u>.

Han, Z., Wang, H., Du, Q., & Zeng, Y. (2017). Natural Hazards Preparedness in Taiwan: A Comparison Between Households With and Without Disabled Members. *Health security* 15 (6): 575–81. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1089/hs.2017.0025</u>.

Hartman, C. W., & Squires, G. D. (Eds.). (2006). *There is no such thing as a natural disaster: Race, class, and Hurricane Katrina*. London: Taylor & Francis. <u>https://books.google.ca/books?hl=en&lr=&id=8dPZ2WfghxcC&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&ots=bJ3L-</u> <u>4S4d8&sig=Y0ofU6PyKu0Rz5oDe-RqS18Rivk&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false</u>

Hawkins, R., & Maurer, K. (2010). Bonding, Bridging and Linking: How Social Capital Operated in New Orleans Following Hurricane Katrina. *The British journal of social work* 40, no. 6: 1777–1793. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcp087</u>

Hengfang, D., Aldrich, D., Danziger, M., Gao, J., Phillips, N., Cornelius, S., and Wang, Q. (2021). High-resolution Human Mobility Data Reveal Race and Wealth Disparities in Disaster Evacuation Patterns. *Humanities & Social Sciences Communications* 8 (1): 1-8. 10.1057/s41599-021-00824-8

Hofmann, S. (2022). Build Back Better and Long-Term Housing Recovery: Assessing Community Housing Resilience and the Role of Insurance Post Disaster. *Sustainability (Basel, Switzerland)*, *14*(9), 5623–. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su14095623</u>

Huang, S.K., Lindell, M.K., Prater, C. S., Wu, H.-C., & Siebeneck, L. K. (2012). Household Evacuation Decision Making in Response to Hurricane Ike. *Natural Hazards Review*, *13*(4), 283–296. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)NH.1527-6996.0000074

Hunter, L. M. (2005). Migration and environmental hazards. *Population and Environment, 26*(4), 273–302. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1007/s1111-005-3343-x</u>

Independent Living Resource Centre. (2023). Disability Emergency Management Network (DEM-NET). <u>https://ilrc.mb.ca/demnet/</u>

Insurance Bureau of Canada. (21 September 2022). IBC Cautions Residents in Atlantic Canada: Take steps to prepare for Hurricane Fiona. <u>http://www.ibc.ca/nb/resources/media-centre/media-releases/take-steps-to-prepare-for-hurricane-fiona</u>

International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC). (2018). Left out of the Loop. *World Disasters Report*. <u>https://media.ifrc.org/ifrc/wp-</u>content/uploads/sites/5/2018/10/C-04-WDR-2018-4-loop.pdf

Kailes, J.I. (2011). Checklist for Integrating People with Disabilities and Others with Access and Functional Needs into Emergency Planning, Response and Recovery. *Harris Family Center for Disability and Health Policy*. <u>http://www.jik.com/plancklst.pdf</u>

Kessler, R. C., Sonnega, A., Bromet, E., Hughes, M., & Nelson, C. B. (1995). Post-traumatic stress disorder in the National Comorbidity Survey. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *52*(12), 1048–1060.

Klinenberg, E. (2003). *Heat wave: A social autopsy of disaster in Chicago*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

https://books.google.ca/books?hl=en&lr=&id=LV6zBwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR7&ots=6PhIg36C Ne&sig=2qBqXODNSS-m5p2eyIYKe-Ee-KU&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false

Klomp, J. & Valckx, K. (2014). Natural Disasters and Economic Growth: A Meta-Analysis. *Global Environmental Change* 26: 183–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.02.006</u>

Kramer, K. & Ware, J. (2021). Counting the cost 2021: A year of climate Breakdown. *Christian Aid*. <u>https://www.christianaid.org.uk/resources/our-work/counting-cost-2021-year-climate-breakdown</u>

Kushma. (2022). Case Studies in Disaster Recovery : A Volume in the Disaster and Emergency Management: Case Studies in Adaptation and Innovation Series. *Elsevier Science & Technology*. <u>https://dal.novanet.ca/permalink/01NOVA_DAL/1nek75v/alma9970616137607190</u>

Landry, O., Hindsley, P., Whitehead, J. C., & Wilson, K. (2007). Going Home: Evacuation-Migration Decisions of Hurricane Katrina Survivors. *Southern Economic Journal*, *74*(2), 326– 343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2325-8012.2007.tb00841.x</u>

Lane L.R., Tobin, G., & Whiteford, L.M. (2003). Volcanic hazard or economic destitution: hard choices in Baños, Ecuador. Glob Environ Chang Part B Environ Hazard 5:23–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hazards.2004.01.001

Lavery, I. (25 September 2022). Feds move from 'response' to 'recovery' following Fiona. *Global News*. <u>https://globalnews.ca/news/9155150/hurricane-fiona-response-canada/</u>

Li, W., Airriess, C.A., Chen, A., Leong, K.J., & Keith, V. (2010). Katrina and migration: evacuation and return by African Americans and Vietnamese Americans in an Eastern New Orleans suburb. Prof Geogr 61:103–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00330120903404934</u>

Lindell, & Perry, R. W. (2012). The Protective Action Decision Model: Theoretical Modifications and Additional Evidence: The Protective Action Decision Model. *Risk Analysis*, *32*(4), 616–632. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.2011.01647.x

Lindell, M.K., & Perry, R.W. (2004). Communicating environmental risk in multiethnic communities. *Sage Publications*. https://dal.novanet.ca/permalink/01NOVA_DAL/6jog6c/cdi_fao_agris_US201300100355

Lindell, M.K., Prater, C.S., & Peacock, W.G. (2007). "Organizational communication and decision making in hurricane emergencies." *Natural Hazards Review*, 8(3), 50–60. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)1527-6988(2007)8:3(50)

Lord, C. (27 September 2022). Fiona insurance payouts: What to know before you make a claim. *Global News*. <u>https://globalnews.ca/news/9157025/fiona-insurance-payouts-home-damage/</u>

Marshall, G. N., Schell, T. L., Elliott, M. N., Rayburn, N. R., & Jaycox, L. H. (2007). Psychiatric disorders among adults seeking emergency disaster assistance after a wildland-urban interface fire. *Psychiatric Services*, *58*(4), 509–514. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1176/ps.2007.58.4.509</u>.

McEntire D.A & Cope, J. (2004). Damage assessment after the Paso Robles (San Simeon, California) earthquake: lessons for emergency management. Quick response report 166. Boulder CO: *University of Colorado Natural Hazards Center.* www.colorado,.edu/hazards/gr/gr166/gr166.html

Morina, N., Wicherts, J. M., Lobbrecht, J., & Priebe, S. (2014). Remission from post-traumatic stress disorder in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis of long term outcome studies. *Clinical Psychology Review, 34*(3), 249–255. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1016/j.cpr.2014.03.002</u>.

Mukasa, M. V. (2019). Post-Hurricane Sandy Coping Strategies and Resilience Factors among People with Disabilities [Doctoral Dissertation, Walden University]. Walden University Theses and Dissertations Archive. <u>https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/sp_pubs/115/</u>

Nakagawa, Y., & Shaw, R. (2004). Social capital: A missing link to disaster recovery. *International Journal of Mass Emergencies and Disasters*, 22(1), 5–34.

National Housing Strategy. November (2020). Independent living for people with developmental disabilities. *Government of Canada*. <u>https://www.placetocallhome.ca/stories/074-independent-living-people-developmental-disabilities</u>

O'Hare, P., White, I., & Connelly, A. (2016). Insurance as maladaptation: Resilience and the "business as usual" paradox. *Environment and Planning. C, Government & Policy*, *34*(6), 1175–1193. https://doi.org/10.1177/0263774X15602022

Office of the Auditor General of Canada. (2016). Report 2—Mitigating the Impacts of Severe Weather. *Government of Canada*. <u>https://www.oag-</u> bvg.gc.ca/internet/english/parl_cesd_201605_02_e_41381.html

Office of the Premier. (14 October 2022). Financial Support for Agriculture and Forestry. https://novascotia.ca/news/release/?id=20221014003

Office of the Prime Minister. (4 October 2021). Rebuilding after Hurricane Fiona. https://pm.gc.ca/en/news/news-releases/2022/10/04/rebuilding-after-hurricane-fiona

Ozer, E. J., Best, S. R., Lipsey, T. L., & Weiss, D. S. (2003). Predictors of posttraumatic stress disorder and symptoms in adults: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin, 129*(1), 52–73.

Pais, J. F., & Elliott, J. R. (2008). Places as recovery machines: Vulnerability and neighborhood change after major hurricanes. *Social Forces*, *86*(4), 1415–1453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.0.0047</u>

Papanikolaou, V., Leon, G. R., Kyriopoulos, J., Levett, J., & Pallis, E. (2011). Surveying the ashes: Experience from the 2007 Peloponnese wildfires six months after the disaster. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine, 26*(2), 79–89. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1017/s1049023x11000094</u>.

Patterson, O., Weil, F., & Patel, K. (2010). The Role of Community in Disaster Response: Conceptual Models. *Population research and policy review* 29, no. 2: 127–141. 10.1007/s11113-009-9133-x

Pottie, E. (5 April 2023). Financial fallout from post-tropical storm Fiona continues. *CBC*. <u>https://www.cbc.ca/listen/live-radio/1-27-information-morning-ns/clip/15976574-financial-fallout-post-tropical-storm-fiona-continues</u>

Public Health Agency of Canada. (2018). Trauma and violence-informed approaches to policy and practice. *Government of Canada*. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/health-risks-safety/trauma-violence-informed-approaches-policy-practice.html</u>

Public Safety Canada. (2019). Emergency Management Strategy for Canada: Toward a Resilient 2030. *Government of Canada.*

https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/pblctns/mrgncy-mngmnt-strtgy/index-en.aspx

Public Safety Canada. (2022). Canadian Disaster Database. *Government of Canada.* <u>https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/rsrcs/cndn-dsstr-dtbs/index-en.aspx</u>

Quantum Market Research. (2013). The Understand Insurance Research Report. *Melbourne: Report for the Insurance Council of Australia*. <u>https://pdf4pro.com/view/the-understand-insurance-research-report-561241.html</u>

Quarantelli, E.L. (1984). Evacuation behavior and problems: findings and implications for the research literature. Final Report to FEMA 1980. *Disaster Research Center*. <u>https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA091818</u>

Quigley, K., B. Bisset, and B. Mills. (2017). *Too critical to fail: How Canada manages threats to critical infrastructure*

Ritchie, H. & Roser, M. (Updated November 2021). Natural Disasters. *Our World in Data*. <u>https://ourworldindata.org/natural-disasters#citation</u>

Roy, K.C., Ahmed, M.A., Hasan, S. & Sadri, A.M. (2020). Dynamics of crisis communications in social media: Spatio-temporal and text-based comparative analyses of twitter data from Hurricanes Irma and Michael. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Systems for Crisis Response and Management (ISCRAM)* (Vol. 2020).

Sadri, A., Ukkusuri, S., & Ahmed, Md. (2021). Review of Social Influence in Crisis Communications and Evacuation Decision-making. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives* 9: 100325. <u>https://novanet-</u>

primo.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/permalink/f/ljnbc9/TN_cdi_doaj_primary_oai_doaj_org_article_3 6abe96e079f49a89133a3f7d889237e

Scher, C. D. & Ellwanger, J. (2009). Fire-related cognitions moderate the impact of risk factors on adjustment following wildfire disaster. *Journal of Anxiety Disorder, 23*(7), 891–896. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1016/j.janxdis.2009.05.007</u>.

Sharkey, P. (2007). Survival and death in New Orleans: An empirical look at the human impact of Katrina. *Journal of Black Studies, 37*(4), 482–501. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1177/0021934706296188</u>

Siebeneck L.K., & Cova, T.J. (2008). An assessment of the return entry process for Hurricane Rita 2005. *International Journal of Mass Emergency Disaster* 26:91–111. <u>10.1177/028072700802600202</u>

Siebeneck, L.K., Lindell, M. K., Prater, C. S., Wu, H.-C., & Huang, S.-K. (2013). Evacuees' reentry concerns and experiences in the aftermath of Hurricane Ike. *Natural Hazards (Dordrecht)*, *65*(3), 2267–2286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-012-0474-0</u>

Smellie, S. (7 February 2023). Red Cross Fiona effort exceeds all other disasters, with \$54.2 million raised. *CTV News*. <u>https://atlantic.ctvnews.ca/red-cross-fiona-effort-exceeds-all-other-disasters-with-54-2-million-raised-1.6263803</u>

Sorensen, J.H., Vogt, B.M., Mileti, D.S. (1987) "Evacuation: an assessment of planning and research." *FEMA*.

Stallings, R.A. (1991). Ending Evacuations. *International Journal of Mass Emergencies & Disasters*, *9*(2), 183–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/028072709100900205</u> [https://training.fema.gov/hiedu/downloads/ijems/articles/ending%20evacuations.pdf]

Statistics Canada. (2018). A demographic, employment and income profile of Canadians with disabilities aged 15 years and over, 2017 Canadian Disability Survey. Retrieved from: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/89-654-x/89-654-x2018002-eng.htm</u>

Stienstra, D. (2018). Canadian Disability Policies in a World of Inequalities. *Societies* 8 (2): 36. https://doi.org/10.3390/soc8020036 Retrieved from: https://www.mdpi.com/2075-4698/8/2/36/htm

Stienstra, D., Grand'Maison, V., Pin, L., Rodenburg, E., Garwood, K., & Reinders, K. (2021). Disability Inclusion Analysis of Lessons Learned and Best Practices of the Government of Canada's Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Live Work Well Research Centre.* <u>https://liveworkwell.ca/disability-inclusion-analysis-covid-19</u>

Tierney, K. (2006). Social inequality, hazards, and disasters. In R. J. Daniels, D. F. Kettl, & H. Kunreuther (Eds.), *On risk and disaster: Lessons from Hurricane Katrina* (pp. 109–128). Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Treasury Board of Canda Secretariat. May 2023. Guide to Costing. *Government of Canada*. <u>https://www.tbs-sct.canada.ca/pol/doc-eng.aspx?id=32600</u>

Tierney, K. & Perry, R. W. (2001). Facing the Unexpected: Disaster Preparedness and Response in the United States (p. xi+306–xi+306). *National Academies Press*. https://doi.org/10.17226/9834

Tutton, M. (24 September 2022). Military to be deployed to Nova Scotia to assist recovery after Fiona lashes region. *CP24*. <u>https://www.cp24.com/news/military-to-be-deployed-to-nova-scotia-to-assist-recovery-after-fiona-lashes-region-1.6082663</u>

United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR) [UNISDR]. (2016). Poverty & death: disaster mortality, 1996–2015. *Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters: Brussels, Belgium*. <u>https://www.cred.be/poverty-death-disaster-mortality-0</u>

United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR). (2023). Build back better. <u>https://www.undrr.org/terminology/build-back-better</u>

Van Ameringen, M., Mancini, C., Patterson, B., & Boyle, M. H. (2008). Post-traumatic stress disorder in Canada. *CNS Neuroscince and Therapeutics*, *14*(3), 171–181. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.1111/j.1755-5949.2008.00049.x</u>.

Victorian Council of Social Services (VCOSS). (2017). Building Resilience Communities: Working with the community sector to enhance emergency management. *Melbourne*. https://apo.org.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/2017-03/apo-nid89656.pdf

Wildeman, S. (2013). Protecting Rights and Building Capacities: Challenges to Global Mental Health Policy in Light of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics, 41*(1), 48-73. Retrieved from: <u>https://onlinelibrary-wiley-com.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/doi/abs/10.1111/jlme.12005</u>

Wisner, B., Blaikie, P., Cannon, T., & Davis, I. (2004). *At risk: Natural hazards, people's vulnerability, and disasters* (2nd ed.). London and New York: Routledge. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/10.4324/9780203714775</u>

Wolf, J., Adger, N., Lorenzoni, I., Abrahamson, V., & Raine, R. (2010). Social Capital, Individual Responses to Heat Waves and Climate Change Adaptation: An Empirical Study of Two UK Cities. *Global environmental change* 20, no. 1: 44–52.

Wulandari, Sagala, S. A. H., & Sullivan, G. B. (2018). The Role of Community-Based Organization in Disaster Response at Mt. Sinabung. *IOP Conference Series. Earth and Environmental Science*, *158*(1), 12035–. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/158/1/012035</u>

Yabe, T. & Ukkusuri, S. (2020). Effects of Income Inequality on Evacuation, Reentry and Segregation after Disasters. *Transportation Research. Part D, Transport and Environment* 82: 102260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102260</u>

Zaffina, S., Camisa, V., Monducci, E., Vinci, M. R., Vicari, S., & Bergamaschi, A. (2014). PTSD prevalence and associated risk factors after a fire disaster that broke out in a paediatric hospital: A cross-sectional study. *La Medicina del Lavoro, 105*(3), 163–173. <u>https://pubmed-ncbi-nlm-nih-gov.ezproxy.library.dal.ca/25078798/</u>

Zakour, M. (2008). Social capital and increased organizational capacity for evacuation in natural disasters. *Social Development Issues*, 30(1), 13–28.

Zelinsky, W., & Kosinski, L.A., (1991). The emergency evacuation of cities: a cross-national historical and geographical study. *Rowman and Littlefield Publishers, Inc.*